
  

MINUTES FOR LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP 
 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 1, 2010  
  

WOONSOCKET MIDDLE SCHOOL  
Hamlet Building Cafeteria  

60 Florence Drive  
Woonsocket, RI 02895  

6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. – Public Forum  
7:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. – Agenda  

 
Sponsored by the Woonsocket School Department 

and Woonsocket School Committee  
 
PRESENT FROM WOONSOCKET SCHOOL COMMITTEE:  Marc Dubois, Eleanor Nadeau, Anita Forcier, Linda 
Majewski, Vimala Phongsavanh.  FROM WOONSOCKET EDUCATION DEPT.:  Dr. Robert Gerardi, Jr., Supt., 
Mark Garceau, Director of Instruction, and Stacey Busby, Finance Director.  CITY COUNCIL:  John Ward, 
President; William Schneck, and State Representative Jon Brien, Senator Mark Cote, Senator Roger Picard.   
 
6:00 PM – PUBLIC FORUM 
 
Marlene Smith, WED Teacher:  Said she received a letter from a young man she had as a student a couple of years 
ago regarding the fact that all the requirements that are being imposed by the state on students to achieve high 
standards are having the opposite effect.  He referred to the new portfolio requirements as being very time-
consuming and instead of decreasing the drop-out rate, he feels they are increasing the drop-out rate.  “His older 
brother has had three friends that have already dropped out because of these requirements.”  She reported on how 
hard the teachers at the WHS and the other schools work and there being a lot of anti-teacher sentiment out there.  It 
seems that the absentee rates are higher in the 9th grade.  She doesn’t know why, but suggested that it would help if 
the kids have to pass everything in the 8th Grade to move on.  “It’s very difficult trying to keep a class going with 
students that are trying to catch up after being absent.”  She wants the people at the state to understand the difficulty 
of working under these mandates and believes some of them need to be addressed.  She would like to know (just for 
her own benefit) the number of staff members that are attached both full-time and part-time to the state legislators 
and whether they have health benefits.  Dr. Gerardi asked if anyone knew the answer to that question.  Senator Mark 
Cote said that he isn’t privy to all staff at the State House, but he shares a secretary with two other senators and this 
person is full-time.  He assumes she gets benefits.   
 
Senator Mark Cote:  He noted that he had to attend a district event in North Smithfield tonight at 7 p.m., so he asked 
to present his points now.  Cote said that he’s certainly aware that state support of education has eroded over the 
past few years, adding that we are in the middle of the worst recession since the 1930s.  “There have been record 
foreclosures, an unemployment rate of 13%, and 150 families in Woonsocket recently lost their jobs at CVS.  Every 
institution from government down to the family is coping with the reality of the financial conditions as they are today.  
We will do whatever we can to fight for our fair share of funding for the schools.”  His recommendation regarding 
unfunded mandates was that he sincerely believes that they have to be addressed on a collaborative basis.  
“Communities should get together to identify what mandates are of particular concern to them and determine what 
relief they can get from those mandates, then have their legislators bring that forward.  It’s not going to get a big 
audience at the State House on a community-by-community basis, in my experience.” 
 
Dr. Gerardi responded to Ms. Smith’s concerns about the new high school graduation requirements and their effect.  
He explained that the legislators are here to discuss the state mandates—not something that the Board of Regents 
has imposed.  “The purpose of having portfolios is to have students demonstrate their proficiency in different ways, 
which is very complex.  As far as increased 8th Grade requirements, I commend the WSC for increasing those 
graduation requirements at the beginning of this school year.  As far as the state mandates, we feel there are some 
that need to be tweaked.” 
 
Allen Auclair, 247 Parady Avenue, Woonsocket:  He reminded everyone that when he was on the school 
committee they had passed a promotional policy for Grades 1 through 5.  However, he cannot find evidence of that 
policy anywhere.  “It should have been put into the manual back then.”  He noted that the November 1st deadline has 
already gone past for a joint budget meeting between the City Council and the Woonsocket School Committee for a 
3-year budget forecast.  “It hasn’t happened and I believe that it’s a valuable tool.  Was B & E hired as an auditing 
firm or a consulting firm?  They issued recommendations to the school department—that’s a big no-no for an auditor.”  

  



LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP 
December 1, 2010 

Dr. Gerardi asked him to email his secretary about the Grade 1 through 5 promotion policy.  Gerardi deferred to the 
City Council and the Mayor about the auditors because they put out the RFP and hired them.  City Council President 
John Ward explained that it’s a separate classification of audit and is designed to evaluate the value and efficiency of 
a department.  He noted that it’s an audit specifically to evaluate.  Mr. Auclair mentioned the revenues for the current 
fiscal year and the $1.5 million in question.  “The school department receives grants and federal monies also.  What 
does it take for the level of programs that the WED currently has to operate?”  His calculation put it at about $78 or 
$79 million.  “What is the total revenue stream as it is today?” he asked.  Dr. Gerardi told him that Mrs. Busby would 
get that information for him.  He explained that some of the money is supplemental and cannot be used to supplant 
other funds.  Mrs. Busby told Auclair that the total budget is about $73 million combined, which is a tentative number 
because more than half of the grants have not yet been approved.   
 
Estelle Bubble, Woonsocket:  She works at 5th Avenue School as an aide and said that they need cleaning 
supplies.  “The flu season is coming.”  She asked if kids can legally quit school at age 16 or if they still need a parent 
signature.  She has heard that some kids think that they don’t and that may be why they are bunking school. 
 
PUBLIC FORUM CLOSED AT 6:40 P.M. AND RECESSED UNTIL LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP AT 7 P.M.  

 
7 P.M. -- LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP 
 
PRESENT FROM WOONSOCKET SCHOOL COMMITTEE:  Marc Dubois, Eleanor Nadeau, Anita Forcier, Linda 
Majewski, Vimala Phongsavanh.  FROM WOONSOCKET EDUCATION DEPT.:  Dr. Robert Gerardi, Jr., Supt., 
Mark Garceau, Director of Instruction, and Stacey Busby, Finance Director.  CITY COUNCIL:  John Ward, 
President; William Schneck, Suzanne Vadenais, Roger Jalette, Chris Beauchamp, Daniel Gendron.  Mayor 
Leo Fontaine, Senator Roger Picard, Representative-Elect Bob Phillips and Representative Patricia Morgan 
from Coventry were also in attendance.   
 
1)   2010-2011 Legislative Issues:   School Education Funding, Unfunded Mandates, Aid to Communities  
 
Mrs. Forcier spoke about RIGL 16-22.-9 which requires RIDE to provide uniform achievement testing, saying that she 
supports GAP tests for English Language Learners.  Dr. Gerardi explained that “No Child Left Behind” (NCLB) 
required that there be alternative assessments for our most challenged students.  “In RI, the Board of Regents chose 
to represent 1% of the students with a different form of assessment.  Many other states added the other 2% of the 
students who weren’t covered under the 1%.  It’s only being humane in providing an alternative assessment for 
someone with a disability.  If the legislature puts into law that there must be a GAP test for another 2% of the 
students, it would be of great benefit,” said Dr. Gerardi.  Mrs. Majewski spoke about the 3-tiered diploma system, 
noting that a GAP test should show students’ growth over a certain period of time.   
 
Ms. Phongsavanh asked about RIGL 16-21.1 which requires school districts to provide transportation for 
students attending private, out-of-district “regionalized” schools and how much money it takes away from our 
students.  Mrs. Busby told her that it costs approximately $75,000 to $100,000 for the private school transportation.  
Dr. Gerardi added that in larger districts, it’s a much higher amount.  Mr. Ward said he served on the RI 
Transportation Committee about five years ago when he worked in Johnston.  It was recommended then that the 
communities spoke out and share the costs.  “That was one of many ideas discussed back then, but as you can see, 
it hasn’t been implemented,” he said.  Dr. Gerardi said that the feeling is that if people can afford to send their 
children to private schools, they should provide their own transportation instead of asking the local school district to 
fund their transportation.  Rep. Morgan added that she noticed that in her community of Coventry, the busses seem 
to stop in front of every house.  “When I went to school, I walked to a stop to get the bus,” she said.  Dr. Gerardi 
noted that in our district, we have depot stops and have been as efficient as we can with our bussing costs, including 
staggering school start times to decrease the number of busses needed.  “There is another reason for door-to-door 
bussing, which is to eliminate the requirement for bus monitors for same side door-to-door pick up.  They have to 
weigh that out also.  If the General Assembly can look at if a school district decides it’s going to operate schools over 
180 days, they should have to pay for that transportation themselves for the extra days,” noted Ward.  In regard to 
RIGL 16-21-1 which requires transportation for those “who reside so far from the public or private school the 
pupil attends as to make the pupil’s attendance impractical…”, Mrs. Forcier is concerned about the 5- and 6-
year olds we have walking a mile to school and then they are sent home with a list of pedophiles in their 
neighborhood.  “What is considered impractical?” she asked.   
 
In regards to RIGL 16-9-1 which states that the town shall receive money due the town from the state for 
public schools…..purchase orders or financial commitments shall not be authorized even on the order of the 
school committee…., Mrs. Nadeau thinks this law should be repealed and another solution must be found because 
if the school department doesn’t have a balanced budget, it violates state and federal laws in its implementation.   
She mentioned the court case and said it seems that the judges at the Superior Court level are uncomfortable dealing 

2  



LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP 
December 1, 2010 

with this and seem to be pushing us towards a Caruolo action.  “An employee said earlier that her school doesn’t 
have cleaning supplies.  Well, that’s because certain bills are being paid and others are not, probably because it’s 
expedient to pay those bills. Things like referees for sports, for example.  And yet we don’t have medical supplies in 
case someone gets hurt.  That doesn’t seem to work for either side.  Even Judge Gallo commented on a few 
occasions that he doesn’t expect the WSC to work miracles.  Before you can go Caruolo, you have to get down to 
bare bones.  We are not allowed to fall below the BEP guidelines at the same time.  We are looking at next year’s 
budget now already with a $3 million deficit so if we continue on this path, we will never have a balanced budget.  
There’s no simple answer.  Bickering and taking each other to court is certainly not the answer.  What people don’t 
take into consideration is that we are a distressed community.  We are robbing Peter to pay Paul and delaying things 
such as capital improvements.  We are out of compliance with the truancy officers because we couldn’t afford the 
salaries.  We don’t have the funds or the tax base to provide those funds.  If this regulation was repealed, it would 
save a lot of grief on both sides,” she said.  Dr. Gerardi feels that this law doesn’t take into account that at some 
point, you are below the BEP.  “What are the biggest items that move your budget?” asked Rep. Morgan.  “In West 
Warwick, we are losing students.  What things could we look at?” she asked.  “If you reduce your enrollment, you can 
increase your maintenance of effort and go by your per pupil cost.  Our enrollment has increased every year.  We are 
a service industry.  Most of the budget is in salaries and we have gotten some big concessions from our unions.  The 
other big drivers are transportation and health insurance.  We moved ours up to a 20% co-pay with our unions.  The 
other driver is out-of-district placements, but that is a federal law.  Special education laws also affect our budget but 
there are good reasons for those laws,” said Gerardi.  Morgan asked about consolidating services with the city and 
other districts.  Gerardi reported that we have in some cases.  City Council President Ward mentioned that 
Woonsocket teacher Social Security stacked on top of the pension that teachers receive has a big impact on the 
City’s budget.  He said that $2.4 million has been paid into Social Security by Woonsocket.  ”It was done way back 
when in 1983 and the eleven communities that were in it then, are stuck in it.  We need to find a way to get out of this 
obligation.  Most of the communities in this dilemma are urban communities.  The General Assembly could be helpful 
in getting our federal delegates to assist us with this,” said Ward.  Dr. Gerardi said that there are other states that 
don’t have it at all.  Ward added that it seems that most states don’t have it.  He spoke about the fair funding formula 
that passed and how he doesn’t feel it gives proper impact to the needs of students in the classroom, such as 
language barriers.  He compared the difference between what suburban Lincoln will get versus Woonsocket under 
this new formula.  Rep. Morgan asked if there was the possibility of creating a magnet school for transient students to 
go to even if they are moving a lot--even if we have to bus them.  Gerardi explained that costs would go up because 
transportation costs would go up, but thought it was a great idea.  “If you look at why students are transient, many 
times it’s due to poverty and by putting all of these students in one school, it could be considered discrimination,” Mrs. 
Majewski observed.  Ms. Phongsavanh said she had spoken to one principal for a couple of elementary schools in 
Woonsocket who thought about a speech and language school for a population of students, but it would involve 
increased costs.  She thinks it’s a good idea, however.  Mrs. Majewski felt that this statute might have been a good 
idea at one time, but now it pits one law against another law and no judge wants to violate either.   
 
Senator Picard was asked if the ideas that were brought up tonight can be proposed to the General Assembly.  “Yes, 
but there can be other legislators there whose communities lost money and they will be trying to get that money back.  
As far as the bussing and the difference in school calendars, Representative Lisa Baldelli-Hunt tried to address this 
last year and it got nowhere.  The funding formula just passed, took 18 years in the making and it barely made it 
through.  And that’s only because there were enough changes and that enabled it to pass,” said Picard.  “One of the 
things that pushed it through was the Race to the Top dollars because if you didn’t have a funding formula, you 
wouldn’t have an opportunity to receive that money.  To make this formula fair, you need to look at every child’s 
needs,” said Forcier.  Picard added that there were three different formulas that were presented for passage.  “We 
have a new Governor-elect and we don’t even know if he will retain the Commissioner,” he said. 

 
RIGL 16-2-2 (180 School Days Required):  Mrs. Forcier feels that this needs to be changed to “180 days or 
equivalent” to provide districts with the opportunity to explore different models, such as 4-day school weeks and 
shutting the buildings down one day a week.  “Many districts are finding that test scores are better, attendance is 
better, and substitute costs are less.  The whole state of Florida is turning to 4-day schools weeks.  At least give us 
the option.  We would save on bussing, utilities, transportation costs, etc.  It would give us another option,” said 
Forcier.  Dr. Gerardi said it would just be a modification of a law, and noted that Florida and Colorado have adopted 
this model.  “Other community agencies could provide programs on the fifth day of the week for enrichment and many 
of them are grant-funded.  Ms. Phongsavanh spoke about the Expanded Learning Opportunities Program and how it 
works.  “If you have a longer school day, for two working parents, it would be cheaper to pay for one whole day of day 
care instead of before and after school day care,” noted Gerardi.  Bob Phillips asked about what we would propose 
for our child care programs at the schools where we run before and after school day care now.  “Would we leave 
them open on the fifth day?” he asked.  Dr. Gerardi said that we haven’t thought it out because it’s all speculatory.  
“Maybe Kids Klub would want to rent the buildings on the fifth day.  That would all have to be worked out,” said 
Gerardi.   
 

3  



LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP 
December 1, 2010 

 
RIGL 16-45-1.1 (Mandates that all youth who choose vocational education shall have access to such 
programs):  Bill Schneck mentioned the state-run career/technical centers, saying that other communities have the 
state pay for their career and technical centers (i.e. William Davies Career & Tech in Lincoln).  Dr. Gerardi explained 
that the state funding formula fixed that issue and that we also send students to Davies for programs that we don’t 
have in Woonsocket, such as Cosmetology. 
  
RIGL 16-13-2 (Establishes March 1st deadline for teacher layoffs.):  Mr. Dubois noted that this arbitrary deadline 
is prior to schools’ and municipalities’ knowledge of revenue.  “When we have no idea what we are getting in funding 
from the City or the State until at least June or July, we have to send out lay-off notices to teachers.  We lose a lot of 
good teachers that go to other districts for the stability.  We would like to see that date moved back,” said Dubois.  
Mrs. Majewski agreed with him, saying that we lose a lot of good staff such as occupational therapists, physical 
therapists and speech pathologists.  “These positions are very hard to fill.  It seems that the way the budgets are 
organized in the state is backwards.  It would make more sense to visit the way our state does its budget so that the 
state does theirs in June or July and the City does theirs in September,” said Majewski.  She spoke about the 
structural deficit we are facing for next year due to losing ARRA funds and having a new BEP in place which requires 
new textbook expenditures, library personnel, among others.  “There are so many of these requirements that we are 
not meeting and will be required by the new BEP.  I’m sure we aren’t going to be the only community facing this.  
Because of the financial crisis, we had to cut all day Kindergarten.  Why don’t we have a requirement for all day 
Kindergarten so that all children can start out on an even playing field?” she said.  As far as the graduation 
requirements and testing by proficiency, she noted that more teachers and staff are needed to meeting those 
requirements.  “The way that the state computes the drop-out rate also needs to be changed.  We need to expand 
our definition of graduation.  It may take a student five years to graduate due to extenuating circumstances,” she 
added. 
 
Chris Beauchamp, City Councilor, thanked the Woonsocket School Committee for the invitation tonight, saying “it was 
long overdue”.  “The cost of education is staggering.  How did Rhode Island come up with a data source for its 
education funding?  Other communities have listed their funding sources, but RI doesn’t,” said Beauchamp.  Dr. 
Gerardi thinks they looked at it like a region and then took an average.  “RI has a very high level of children with lead 
paint poisoning.  Woonsocket has the highest percentage of lead paint poisoning in the nation.  When you take the 
‘Market Basket’ approach, it doesn’t take this into consideration and the special needs that these children have,” said 
Gerardi.  Beauchamp believes that Roger Picard was being honest when he said that other legislators will be fighting 
for the money that their communities will be losing with the new funding formula, but those communities don’t have 
the needs that we have.  Representative Morgan asked if a study has been done to see if these kids are being 
misdiagnosed.  She wondered why there has been this huge increase in special education.  Dr. Gerardi feels that it’s 
a response to intervention when regular education teachers try many different methods to teach these students and 
they don’t improve.  “What is the remedy there?” asked Morgan.  Dr. Gerardi said that we have done many things that 
have reduced our costs significantly.  “Maybe you can connect with our federal regulators and help us to lobby for the 
best course of action on the federal level.  We have developed E-Learning programs and other alternative programs 
to reduce costs in this area,” said Gerardi.  Mrs. Forcier said that if we look back, kids weren’t even being tested for 
things such as dyslexia.  “We are getting smarter and learning more with the technology that is now available.  When 
I went to school, you could get thrown out and probably still get a job back then.  It’s a different world now,” she said.  
“In the olden days, Gomer Pyle couldn’t read and still got a job at a gas station.  The dyslexic students weren’t 
recorded.  Some students were institutionalized,” said Gerardi.  “We have learned so much in the last 8 to 10 years.  
Babies are being born earlier and earlier and being saved.  Many develop okay, but some have disabilities.  More is 
being learned about autism.  For people that have worked with these children, they can see that there are needs 
there.  Drug and alcohol abuse are contributing factors also,” noted Mrs. Majewski.  “If anything, we under-diagnose. 
Teachers must try many alternatives before a referral will be made,” noted Gerardi. 
 
RIGL 16-62-1.1 (Establishes community of origin’s financial responsibility for children placed in group homes 
by DCYF):  Mr. Dubois added that same law applies for students sent to the training school.  He would like to see the 
state pick up this cost. 
 
Mr. Ward suggested sending the minutes to the Board of Regents or a copy of the videotape so they can be 
enlightened.  “At RIDE they seem to believe that we don’t tax our people enough.  At some level we will have to come 
to terms with that, but I’m hesitant to do that until the state recognizes that some communities require more to fund 
their education system properly than others,” said Ward.  “If there’s a way, we need to have a funding formula that 
says each community must pay this much for education with weights on it and the state must put in the rest,” said 
Forcier.  “You can’t take the diversity of this population of students in an urban community and divide it into two parts 
like the state has done—regular and 40% added for the free and reduced lunch population.  More than 10% of our 
students come from homes that don’t pay taxes.  Other communities that have Section 8 students getting free and 
reduced lunch are still paying taxes (suburban communities).  There’s nothing in that formula that takes that into 

4  



LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP 
December 1, 2010 

5  

consideration,” said Ward.  Mrs. Forcier thanked him for all his hard work and commitment to this.  She also thanked 
Jon Brien and everyone else for coming tonight.  Roger Jalette asked what the purpose of this workshop was.  Mr. 
Dubois explained that before the legislature went back into session, we wanted to let them know what mandates we 
would like them to take into consideration.  Jalette suggested that in the future, we pick a date where the current 
representatives could be here and bring their friends.  “We have one sitting representative and one representative-
elect here tonight,” said Jalette.  Dr. Gerardi said that his secretary did a great job trying to invite every single person 
possible to attend this forum tonight.  “She has been calling, checking and recalling,” he said.  “In order to have an 
effective conversation with the people who can help change is to have them here and look at them eye-to-eye.  Talk 
to all of them and ask what date is good for them and ask them to invite their friends in the General Assembly to 
come and listen,” said Jalette.  Mrs. Forcier told him that they did get to speak with Senator Brien and Senator Cote 
earlier, but they had to leave.  “Other dates were considered also.  I think the meeting went well and it was very 
productive,” said Forcier.  She thanked them all again for coming.  Bill Schneck thanked Dr. Gerardi and the WSC for 
putting this evening together.  “We haven’t been speaking.  We have been letting the judge do that.  I would like to 
have another meeting as soon as possible because there’s still the discrepancy which needs to be addressed.  We 
haven’t sat down like this in a while and need to work together,” said Schneck.  He hopes they can meet within the 
next couple of weeks.  Suzanne Vadenais said the City Council and the Mayor have been looking like the bad guys 
and that she cares about the kids.  “I was on the school committee years ago.  We aren’t the bad guys.  The state 
has to start realizing that Woonsocket is a poor community.  We have parents that aren’t working and don’t pay taxes.  
Woonsocket’s children deserve the same education that kids in Barrington and Westerly get,” she said.  Councilman 
Gendron thanked the school committee for putting this workshop together and felt that tonight’s meeting was 
beneficial.  “Everyone seems to want to work together.  This type of forum is always better than throwing out 
comments here and there.  I appreciated everyone’s comments tonight,” he said.  “As part of the performance audit, 
Mrs. Busby has done a 5-year projection of expenditures and that is part of the joint meeting.  As we get to the 
wrapping up of the performance audit, it may be the time to take the 5-year projection that Mrs. Busby completed and 
try to pull together a 5-year projection based on the new funding formula,” suggested Ward.  Dr. Gerardi noted that 
the city finance director, Mrs. Busby and the performance auditor are communicating and that’s a great point to make.  
Mrs. Majewski thanked everyone for coming and thinks we have some great parents in Woonsocket who do the best 
they can with what they have.  Mr. Dubois thanked everyone for coming and Mrs. Forcier for assisting him in this and 
Dotty DeRemer for sending over 100 invitations out.  “They had seven weeks’ notice and some didn’t even respond,” 
he said. 
 
The workshop ended at 8:55 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,   
 
 
 
Nancy G. Belisle, WSC Recording Secretary 
 


